### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

DANIEL E. WOLFUS,

Appellant,

v.

KENNETH A. BRUNK; RICHARD D. MORITZ; BRADLEY J. BLACKETOR; TIMOTHY HADDON; MARTIN M. HALE, JR.; TREY ANDERSON; RICHARD SAWCHAK; FRANK YU; JOHN W. SHERIDAN; ROGER A. NEWELL; RODNEY D. KNUTSON; NATHANIEL KLEIN,

Respondents,

DANIEL E. WOLFUS,

Appellant,

v.

KENNETH A. BRUNK; RICHARD D. MORITZ; BRADLEY J. BLACKETOR; TIMOTHY HADDON; MARTIN M. HALE, JR.; TREY ANDERSON; RICHARD SAWCHAK; FRANK YU; JOHN W. SHERIDAN; ROGER A. NEWELL; RODNEY D. KNUTSON; NATHANIEL KLEIN,

Respondents,

Electronically Filed
Supreme Court 10ct 8016 20 20 01:53 p.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

## EXHIBIT I

# EXHIBIT I

Home | Archives | Products | About | Contact | FAO | New User? Sign Up | Sign In Penny Stocks Form 4 Filings **Insider Buys** Significant Buys **Insider Sales** Sec Form 4 Insider Buvina Insider Buy Sell Insider Trading Insider Trading Stock Options Insider Watch Ratios Stock Screener Graph View Wolfus Daniel E - Midway Gold Corp - For 2009-01-07 1. About Form 4 Filing: Every director, officer or owner of more than ten percent of a class of equity securities registered under Section 12 of the '34 Act must file with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) a statement of ownership regarding such security. The initial filing is on Form 3 and changes are reported on Form 4. The Annual Statement of beneficial ownership "Insiders might sell their shares for any number of of securities is on Form 5. The forms contain information on the reporting person's relationship reasons, but they buy them for only one: they think to the company and on purchases and sales of such equity securities. the price will rise! 2. Form 4 is stored in SEC's EDGAR database. EDGAR is Electronic Data Gathering, Analysis and - Peter Lynch ==>> What is insider trading>> Retrieval System. It is a registered trademark of the SEC. Email a friend >>... Enter Stock Ticker Symbol or Cik: Search! Cik Lookup... Search! Search By Company or Insider Name: Google The following is an SEC EDGAR document rendered as filed. Here is the list of insider trading transaction codes. OMB APPROVAL FORM 4 **UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION** OMB Number: 3235-0287 Washington, D.C. 20549 November 30, 2011 Expires: Check this box if no longer STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP Estimated average burden hours per subject to Section 16. Form 4 response. 0.5 Filed pursuant to Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, Section 17(a) of the Public Utility or Form 5 obligations may Holding Company Act of 1935 or Section 30(h) of the Investment Company Act of 1940 continue. See Instruction 2. Issuer Name **and** Ticker or Trading Symbol Relationship of Reporting Person(s) to Issuer Name and Address of Reporting Person <sup>2</sup> Check all applicable) Director 10% Owner (Middle) 3. Date of Earliest Transaction (MM/DD/YY) (Last) (First) Officer (give title below) Other (specify below) 10350 WILSHIRE BLVD, 4. If Amendment, Date Original Filed(MM/DD/YY) 5. Individual or Joint/Group Filing(Check Applicable Line)
\_\_ X \_\_ Form filed by One Reporting Person (Street) OS ANGELES, CA90024 Form filed by More than One Reporting Person (City) (State) (Zip) Table I - Non-Derivative Securities Acquired, Disposed of, or Beneficially Owned 4. Securities Acquired (A) or Disposed of (D) 1.Title of Security 2A. Deemed 5. Amount of 2. Transaction 6. Ownership 7. Nature of Transaction (Instr. 3) Execution Securities Form: Direct Indirect (Instr. 3, 4 and 5) Beneficially Owned Beneficial (D) or Indirect (MM/DD/YY) (MM/DD/YY) Ownership (Instr. 8) Following Reported Transaction(s) (Instr. 4) (Instr. 4) (Instr. 3 and 4) Code V Amount (D) Price Table II - Derivative Securities Acquired, Disposed of, or Beneficially Owned ( e.g. , puts, calls, warrants, options, convertible securities) 5. Number of Derivative 6. Date Exercisable and 7. Title and Amount of 9. Number of 1 Title of 3A. Deemed 8. Price of 11. Nature Derivative Conversion Transaction Execution Transaction Expiration Date Underlying Securities Derivative Derivative Ownership of Indirect Date, if any (MM/DD/YY) Securities Security or Exercise Code (Instr. 8) Securities (MM/DD/YY) (Instr. 3 and 4) Security Form of Beneficial (MM/DD/YY Derivative (Instr. 3) Price of Acquired (A) (Instr. 5) Beneficially Ownership Derivative or Disposed of Owned Security: (Instr. 4) Security Following Direct (D) (Instr. 3, 4, Reported or Indirect and 5) Transaction(s) (I) (Instr. 4) (Instr. 4) Amount Number Date Expiration Code V (A) (D) Exercisable Date Title of Shares Employee Common \$ 0.56 (1) 01/07/2009 200,000 01/07/2009 01/06/2014 200,000 200,000 D Stock Option \$ 0 Stock (Right to Buy) **Reporting Owners** Signatures /s/ Daniel E. Wolfus 01/15/2009 Relationships Reporting Owner Name / Address \*\* Signature of Reporting Person Date Director 10% Owner Officer Other Wolfus Daniel E 10350 WILSHIRE BLVD #1604 OS ANGELES, CA90024 **Explanation of Responses:** (1) Dollar value expressed in Canadian dollars. Reminder: Report on a separate line for each class of securities beneficially owned directly or indirectly. \* If the form is filed by more than one reporting person, see Instruction 4(b)(v). \*\* Intentional misstatements or omissions of facts constitute Federal Criminal Violations. See 18 U.S.C. 1001 and 15 U.S.C. 78ff(a). Note: File three copies of this Form, one of which must be manually signed. If space is insufficient, see Instruction 6 for procedure. Persons who respond to the collection of information contained in this form are not required to respond unless the form displays a currently valid OMB Number

SEC is the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission. EDGAR is a trademark of the SEC.

Terms of Use | Privacy Statement

SecForm4.Com is not affiliated with or approved by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC)

© 2005-2017 <u>SecForm4.Com</u> All rights reserved. Archives: <u>2017</u> <u>2016</u> <u>2015</u> <u>2014</u> <u>2013</u> <u>2012</u> ... Thu, 10 Aug 2017 17:39:23 -0500

# EXHIBIT J

### EXHIBIT J

Home   A	Home   Archives   Products   About   Contact   FAQ   New User? Sign Up   Sign In																	
Sec Form 4				Filin	<u>gs</u>	<u>Insider Buys</u>				<u>s</u>	Significant Buys			Penny Stocks Insider Buying			<u>Insider Sales</u>	
Sec.	LUII	U 4		sider Buy S <u>Ratios</u>		<u>ell</u>		Stock Option		<u>ıs</u>		Insider Trading Stock Screener		<u>sider Tra</u> Graph Vi	<u>Insider W</u>		<u>Watch</u>	
Wolfus 1	Wolfus Daniel E - Midway Gold Corp - For 2009-09-10																	
1. About Form 4 Filing: Every director, officer or owner of more than ten percent of a class of equity securities registered under Section 12 of the '34 Act must file with the <u>U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC)</u> a statement of ownership regarding such security. The initial filing is on Form 3 and changes are reported on Form 4. The Annual Statement of beneficial ownership of securities is on Form 5. The forms contain information on the reporting person's relationship to the company and on purchases and sales of such equity securities.  2. Form 4 is stored in SEC's EDGAR database. EDGAR is Electronic Data Gathering, Analysis and Retrieval System. It is a registered trademark of the SEC.    Email a friend >>											hey think							
	Enter Stock Ticker Symbol or Cik: Search! Cik Lookup																	
Search By	Search By Company or Insider Name: Search! Search!																	
The following is an SEC EDGAR document rendered as filed.																		
					Н	ere is t	he lis	t of	insid	ler tradi	ng transac	tion code	<u>es</u> .					
Check this box if no longer subject to Section 16. Form 4 or Form 5 obligations may continue. See Instruction 1(b).  Check this box if no longer subject to Section 16. Form 4 or Form 5 obligations may continue. See Instruction 1(b).  Check this box if no longer subject to Section 16. Form 4 or Form 5 obligations may continue. See Instruction 1(b).  Check this box if no longer subject to Section 16. Form 4 or Form 5 obligations may continue. See Instruction 1(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, Section 17(a) of the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935 or Section 30(h) of the Investment Company Act of 1940  Comb APPROVAL  OMB Number: 3235-0287 Expires: November 30, 2011 Estimated average burden hours per response  OMB Number: 525-0287 Expires: November 30, 2011 Estimated average burden hours per response  OMB Number: 525-0287 Expires: November 30, 2011 Estimated average burden hours per response  OMB Number: 525-0287 Expires: November 30, 2011 Estimated average burden hours per response  OMB Number: 525-0287 Expires: November 30, 2011 Estimated average burden hours per response  OMB Number: 525-0287 Expires: November 30, 2011 Estimated average burden hours per response  OMB Number: 525-0287 Expires: November 30, 2011 Expires: November 30, 20																		
Wolfus Daniel		porting Persor			Mic	dway Go	old Corp	<u>o [ M</u> I	<u>[ WC</u>	or Trading	<u> </u>		(Check all	nship of Repo applicable)	rting Per	` ,		
(Last) 10350 WILSH	IRE BLVD, #1		(Midd	lle)	09,	/10/200	19			on (MM/DI				icer (give titl				cify below)
LOS ANGELES	5, CA90024	(Street)	(Zij	- \	—  <sup>4.</sup>	If Amer	idment,	, Date	e Origi	inal Filed(	MM/DD/YY)		X Fo	ial or Joint/G orm filed by 0 m filed by Mo	One Repo	orting Pe	erson	
(City)	Т	able I -			ıtive	Sec	curit	ies	Ac	quire	d, Dispo	osed of						3011
1.Title of Security (Instr. 3)				Date	Transaction Execu Date Date,			2A. Deemed 3. Tra Coo (In:		4. Securities Acquired Disposed of (D) (Instr. 3, 4 and 5)  (A) or Amount (D)		.,	5. Amount of Securities Beneficially Owned Following Reported Transaction(s) (Instr. 3 and 4)		6. Ownership Form: Direct (D) or Indirect (I) (Instr. 4)		7. Nature of Indirect Beneficial Ownership (Instr. 4)	
		Table I										ed of,			Own	ed		
1 Title of	12	3	( <i>e.</i>	_	puts				$\overline{}$		ons, con	1	securit	es)	a Num	her of	10.	11. Nature
1. Title of Derivative Security (Instr. 3)  2. Conversion or Exercise Date (MM/DD Derivative Security		Transaction	Execution Date, if any	Trar Cod		Der Sec Acq Disp	Securities Acquired (A) Disposed of ( (Instr. 3, 4, a		Exp (MM	iration Da			Securities (1)	Derivative Security (Instr. 5)	Derivative Securities Beneficially Owned Following Reported Transaction(s		Ownership Form of Derivative Security: Direct (D) or Indirec	of Indirect Beneficial Ownership (Instr. 4)
				Cod	e V		(A)	(D)		Date ercisable	Expiration Date	Title	Amount or Number of Shares		(Instr. 4	4)	(Instr. 4)	
Stock Option (Right to Buy)	\$ 0.86 (1)	09/10/2009		A		1,00	00,000		09/	10/2009	09/09/2014	Common Stock	1,000,000	\$ 0	1,000	0,000	000 D	
		Repor	ting Ow	/ner	'S					1			Signa					
Reporting Owner Name / Address Director 10%							i <b>ps</b> Office	rlo	ther	-	/s/ Doris Daniel E.		attorney-in-	fact for		09/14/2	2009	
Wolfus Daniel E 10350 WILSHIRE BLVD #1604 X			10 /0 C	0% Owner Officer			rtici	** Signature of			f Reporting Person Date							
LOS ANGELES, CA90024  Explanation of Responses:																		
(1) Dollar value expressed in Canadian dollars.  Reminder: Report on a separate line for each class of securities beneficially owned directly or indirectly.  * If the form is filed by more than one reporting person, see Instruction 4(b)(v).  ** Intentional misstatements or omissions of facts constitute Federal Criminal Violations. See 18 U.S.C. 1001 and 15 U.S.C. 78ff(a).  Note: File three copies of this Form, one of which must be manually signed. If space is insufficient, see Instruction 6 for procedure.																		
© 2005-2017 Archives: 201	Persons who respond to the collection of information contained in this form are not required to respond unless the form displays a currently valid OMB Number.  © 2005-2017 SecForm4.Com All rights reserved.  SEC is the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission. EDGAR is a trademark of the SEC.  SecForm4.Com is not affiliated with or approved by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC).  Thu, 10 Aug 2017 17:40:59 -0500  Terms of Use   Privacy Statement																	

10100 W. Charleston Blvd., Suite 250, Las Vegas, Nevada 89135 SANTORO WHITMIRE (702) 948-8771 - fax (702) 948-8773

23

24

25

26

27

28

Steven D. Grierson CLERK OF THE COURT **MDSM** 1 JASON D. SMITH, ESQ. 2 Nevada Bar No. 9691 SANTORO WHITMIRE 3 10100 W. Charleston Blvd., Suite 250 Las Vegas, Nevada 89135 4 Tel.: (702) 948-8771 / Fax: (702) 948-8773 5 Email: jsmith@santoronevada.com 6 ERIC B. LIEBMAN, ESQ. REBECCA DECOOK, ESQ. 7 MOYE WHITE LLP 1400 16th Street, 6th Floor 8 Denver, Colorado 80202 9 Tel.: (303) 292-2900 / Fax: (303) 292-4510 Email: eric.liebman@moyewhite.com 10 becky.decook@moyewhite.com 11 Attorneys for Defendant Kenneth A. Brunk 12 DISTRICT COURT 13 **CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA** 14 DANIEL E. WOLFUS, Case No.: A-17-756971-B 15 Dept. No.: XXVII Plaintiff, 16 KENNETH A. BRUNK'S MOTION TO 17 **DISMISS SECOND AMENDED** v. **COMPLAINT AND JOINDER IN D&O** 18 **DEFENDANTS' MOTION TO DISMISS** KENNETH A. BRUNK; RICHARD D. SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT MORITZ; BRADLEY J. BLACKETOR; 19 TIMOTHY HADDON; MARTIN M. HALE, 20 JR.; TREY ANDERSON; RICHARD SAWCHAK; FRANK YU; JOHN W. 21 SHERIDAN; ROGER A. NEWELL; RODNEY D. KNUTSON; NATHANIEL KLEIN; INV-22 MID, LLC, a Delaware Limited Liability Company; EREF-MID II, LLC, a Delaware

Defendant Kenneth A. Brunk ("Brunk"), by and through his counsel, hereby moves this

Court to dismiss the Second Amended Complaint for lack of personal jurisdiction as to all claims

4848-8922-4543.1

DOES 1 through 25,

Limited Liability Company; HCP-MID, LLC, a Delaware Limited Liability Company; and

Defendants.

**Electronically Filed** 3/16/2018 4:00 PM

10100 W. Charleston Blvd., Suite 250, Las Vegas, Nevada 89135 10 11 12 (702) 948-8771 - fax (702) 948-8773 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22

23

24

25

26

27

28

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

asserted against him. Brunk also joins the Motion to Dismiss Second Amended Complaint ("Motion") filed by Defendants Richard D. Moritz ("Moritz"), Bradley J. Blacketor ("Blacketor"), Timothy Haddon ("Haddon"), Richard Sawchak ("Sawchak"), John W. Sheridan ("Sheridan"), Frank Yu ("Yu"), Roger A. Newell ("Newell") and Rodney D. Knutson ("Knutson") (collectively, the "D&O Defendants"), except for those portions of the Motion that relate to personal jurisdiction as to the D&O Defendants. This Motion is made pursuant to Rule 12(b)(2) of the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure ("NRCP") and is based on the attached Memorandum of Points and Authorities and the Declaration of Kenneth A. Brunk, attached as, Exhibit "A," together with the exhibits, the pleadings and papers on file herein, and any oral argument this Court may allow.

DATED this 16th day of March, 2018.

SANTORO WHITMIRE

67351

JASON D. SMITH, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 9691 10100 W. Charleston Blvd., Suite 250 Las Vegas, Nevada 89135

ERIC B. LIEBMAN, ESQ. REBECCA DECOOK, ESQ. MOYE WHITE LLP 1400 16th Street, 6th Floor Denver, Colorado 80202

Attorneys for Defendant Kenneth A. Brunk

# SANTORO WHITMIRE 10100 W. Charleston Blvd., Suite 250, Las Vegas, Nevada 89135 (702) 948-8771 - fax (702) 948-8773

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

### NOTICE OF MOTION

TO: ALL INTERESTED PARTIES AND THEIR COUNSEL:

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the foregoing KENNETH A. BRUNK'S MOTION TO DISMISS SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT AND JOINDER IN D&O DEFENDANTS' MOTION TO DISMISS SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT will be brought before Department XXVII of the above-entitled Court on the 25 day of Apr. \_\_\_\_\_, 2018, at \_\_10:30 \_\_\_\_a.m.

DATED this 16th day of March, 2018.

### SANTORO WHITMIRE

JASON D. SMITH, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 9691

10100 W. Charleston Blvd., Suite 250 Las Vegas, Nevada 89135

ERIC B. LIEBMAN, ESQ. REBECCA DECOOK, ESQ. MOYE WHITE LLP 1400 16th Street, 6th Floor Denver, Colorado 80202

Attorneys for Defendant Kenneth A. Brunk

### MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES IN SUPPORT OF KENNETH A. BRUNK'S MOTION TO DISMISS SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT

### **INTRODUCTION**

In his Second Amended Complaint for Damages (hereinafter, "Complaint"), Plaintiff asserts against Brunk: (1) a claim for violation of California's Corporate Securities Act of 1968, California Corporations Code § 25000, *et seq.*; (2) a claim under California common law for breach of fiduciary duty; (3) a claim under California common law for aiding and abetting Midway's breach of fiduciary duty; (4) a claim under California common law for fraud; and (5) a claim under California common law for negligent misrepresentation. *See* Complaint, ¶¶ 99-147.

Brunk moves the Court to dismiss the claims asserted against him in the Complaint under Rule 12(b)(2) of the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure ("NRCP") on the ground that this Court lacks personal jurisdiction over him. Brunk is not subject to general jurisdiction in Nevada because he does not reside, much less domicile, in Nevada, and his very limited contacts with Nevada do not render him at "home" in Nevada. Furthermore, Plaintiff's claims arise out of alleged material omissions contained in Midway's SEC filings and press releases, which were drafted in and issued from Colorado and communicated to the investing public in general. Because the claims asserted in this lawsuit do not arise from Brunk's purported contacts with the state of Nevada, this Court cannot exercise specific jurisdiction over Brunk.

Further, Brunk joins the D&O Defendants' Motion to Dismiss Second Amended Complaint and the Memorandum of Point and Authorities in support thereof, except for those portions of the motion and memorandum that address the Court's personal jurisdiction as to the D&O Defendants and urges the Court to dismiss the Complaint as to Brunk for all the reasons stated therein. Like the claims asserted against the D&O Defendants, Plaintiff has failed to allege any misrepresentations by Brunk with the specificity required by law and he cannot show that he was in privity with Brunk as required by California law, given that Brunk did not personally sell any Midway stock to Plaintiff. *See* Declaration of Kenneth A. Brunk, Exh. A ¶ 23.

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

### FACTUAL BACKGROUND

Brunk joins in the factual background set forth in the D&O Defendants' Motion. In addition, Brunk provides the following additional facts:

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