### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

DANIEL E. WOLFUS,

Appellant,

VS.

KENNETH A. BRUNK; RICHARD D. MORITZ; **BRADLEY** J. BLACKETOR; TIMOTHY HADDON; MARTIN M. HALE, JR.; TREY ANDERSON; RICHARD SAWCHAK; FRANK YU; JOHN W. SHERIDAN; ROGER A. NEWELL; RODNEY D. KNUTSON; NATHANIEL KLEIN,

Respondents.

DANIEL E. WOLFUS,

Appellant,

VS.

KENNETH A. BRUNK; RICHARD D. MORITZ; **BRADLEY** J. BLACKETOR; TIMOTHY HADDON; MARTIN M. HALE, JR.; TREY ANDERSON; RICHARD SAWCHAK; FRANK YU; JOHN W. SHERIDAN; ROGER A. NEWELL; RODNEY D. KNUTSON; NATHANIEL KLEIN,

Respondents.

Supreme Court No. 80613

A-17-756971-B

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

### III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The District Court correctly dismissed Wolfus' claim under the Corporate Securities Law of 1968 ("California Securities Act") based on the plain reading of Section 25017(e). The sole basis for this appeal is Wolfus' claim that the District Court erred when it concluded that the "sale" in Wolfus' claim occurred in 2009 when he was "granted" qualified employee incentive stock options. Wolfus, the former CEO and Chairman of the Board of Midway Gold, argues on appeal that no "sale" occurred in 2009 because he did not receive any securities in 2009. Rather, only when he exercised his stock options in 2014, paid for them, and received the stock did his securities fraud claim accrue. The District Court held otherwise.

In his Opening Brief, Wolfus misrepresents to the Court that he relied on Midway's misleading public disclosures when, on two occasions in 2014, he "purchased" Midway stock. This case is not about Wolfus' purchase of Midway stock on the open market or pursuant to a private placement. This case is solely about Wolfus' exercise of employee stock options on two occasions granted to him as a Director by Midway in 2009. Under the plain language of the California Securities Act, a "purchase or sale" of stock options is deemed to occur at the time

arose from the same district court litigation, involved the same parties and doing so was in the interest of judicial efficiency. RA079 – RA080.

the stock options are *granted*—not at the time the options are later *exercised*. CAL. CORP. CODE § 25017(e). Because Wolfus was granted the subject Midway stock options in 2009, and there is no allegation of any misrepresentation in connection with his acquisition of the options in 2009, Wolfus failed to state a claim upon which relief can be granted, and the District Court correctly dismissed the California Securities Act claim.

In his Opening Brief, Wolfus argues for the first time that because Wolfus' acquired the stock options under a qualified employee stock option plan, the transaction is not governed by Section 25017(e). This argument should be rejected because it was not raised below. Moreover, the argument is refuted by the express language of the statute and the multitude of secondary sources commenting on California's securities statute. In sum, Wolfus provides no meaningful analysis explaining how his acquisition of the Midway stock options does not constitute a "purchase or sale" or fall squarely within the "right to purchase" language of Section 25017(e).

Wolfus' allegations fail to state a claim against the Respondents under the California Securities Act for two additional reasons. First, Wolfus fails to allege privity of contract between Wolfus and Respondents, which is required under Section 25501 to support a claim under the Act. Second, Wolfus does not allege any material misstatement or omission by Respondents in connection with the sale

of securities under Section 25401 or allege any facts that the Respondents materially assisted in violations of other sections of the Act. Therefore, Wolfus failed to state a claim under Sections 25401 and 25501, and the District Court correctly dismissed the claim.

### IV. ARGUMENT

### A. Standard of Review.

On appeal, this Court reviews de novo the District Court's dismissal of Wolfus' First Cause of Action (Securities Fraud Against the 2013 and 2014 Control Defendants) as alleged in the SAC for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted pursuant to Rule 12(b)(5) of the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure. See Buzz Stew, LLC v. City of N. Las Vegas, 124 Nev. 224, 228, 181 P.3d 670, 672 (2008). In its application of *de novo* review, this Court may review the entire record on appeal in order to ascertain whether the District Court properly concluded dismissal was appropriate. See id. Further, "this court may affirm the district court on any ground supported by the record, even if not relied upon by the district court." Saavedra-Sandoval v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., 126 Nev. 592, 599, 245 P.3d 1198, 1202 (2010); see also Rosenstein v. Steele, 103 Nev. 571, 575, 747 P.2d 230, 233 (1987) (observing that this Court "will affirm the order of the district court if it reached the correct result, albeit for different reasons") (citation omitted).

# B. The District Court Properly Concluded Wolfus Failed to State a Claim for Relief Under the California Securities Act.

Wolfus contends the District Court erroneously dismissed his Section 25401 and 25501 claim under the California Securities Act for failure to state a claim when it concluded the SAC failed to allege any misrepresentation or omission of fact made by Respondents in connection with the purchase or sale of Wolfus' security. *See* Opening Brief ("OB"), 26. In doing so, Wolfus argues the District Court ignored the plain meaning of the Act and misinterpreted Section 25017(e). *Id.* at 26.

# 1. The District Court Properly Concluded Wolfus Failed to Allege Any Misrepresentation "In Connection with a Purchase or Sale of a Security."

The California Securities Act governs the offer or sale of any "security" within California. See CAL. CORP. CODE §§ 25000-25707. "This California law was designed to protect the public from fraud and deception in securities matters, by providing statutory remedies for violations of the California Corporations Code." America Online, Inc. v. Superior Court, 90 Cal. App. 4th 1, 14, 108 Cal. Rptr. 2d 699 (Ct. App. 1st Dist. 2001), as modified, (July 10, 2001). Specifically, the Act creates a private right of action for inter alia, buyers and sellers of securities who are injured by persons who violate section 25401, which prohibits the use of "untrue statement[s] of a material fact" or omissions of material facts to buy or sell securities.

CAL. CORP CODE § 25501. Wolfus alleges Respondents violated Sections 25401 and  $25501^{21}$ . AA339 – AA340 ¶ 100.

Under Section 25401, it is unlawful for any person, to offer or sell a security in California, or to buy or offer to buy a security in California, by means of any written or oral communication that includes an untrue statement of a material fact or omits to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in the light of the circumstances under which the statements were made, not misleading. CAL. CORP. CODE § 25401 (as amended in 2013, 2014, and 2015); *see also Mohebbi v. Khazen*, 50 F. Supp. 3d 1234, \*11 (N.D. Cal. 2014).

In order to establish a cause of action under Section 25401, Wolfus must plead and prove that "there was a sale or purchase of stock in California by fraudulent untrue statements or by omitting material facts that would by omission make the statements misleading." CAL. CORP. CODE §§ 25401, 25501; *Mueller v. San Diego* 

The Act comprises three statutory schemes which impose liability for the following securities violations: market manipulation (Sections 25400 and 25500); false and misleading statements (Sections 25401 and 25501); and insider trading (Sections 25402 and 25502). Within each of these schemes, the 25400 provisions establish the violation while the 25500 provisions establish the remedy. Section 25500 creates the private remedy for violations of Section 25400 and extends liability to all persons affected by market manipulation without requiring reliance or privity. But Section 25500 is limited to intentional misrepresentations. Sections 25501 and 25502 extend liability to some negligent conduct but retain the privity requirement from common law fraud. *California Amplifier, Inc. v. RLI Ins. Co.*, 94 Cal. App. 4th 102, 109, 113 Cal. Rptr. 2d 915, 921 (Ct. App. 2d Dist. 2001).

Entm't Partners, LLC, No. 16CV2997-GPC(NLS), 2017 WL 2230161, at \*8–9 (S.D. Cal. May 22, 2017).

Section 25501 provides a private right of action for violations of Section 25401: "Any person who violates Section 25401 shall be liable to the person who purchases a security from him or sells a security to him, who may sue either for rescission or for damages . . . ." CAL. CORP. CODE § 25501; see also California Amplifier, Inc. v. RLI Ins. Co., 94 Cal. App. 4th 102, 109, 113 Cal. Rptr. 2d 915 (2001). Section 25501 provides, in pertinent part:

Any person who violates Section 25401 shall be liable to the person who purchases a security from him or sells a security to him ... unless the defendant proves that the plaintiff knew the facts concerning the untruth or omission or that the defendant exercised reasonable care and did not know ... of the untruth or omission.

CAL. CORP. CODE § 25501.

"Offers" and "offers to sell" are defined in Section 25017(b) of the Cal. Corp. Code to include "every attempt or offer to dispose of, or solicitation of an offer to buy, a security or an interest in a security for value." CAL. CORP. CODE § 25017(b). Significantly, the California Securities Act differs from federal law in its treatment of warrants, options and conversion privileges. Under Section 25017(e), "neither the exercise of the right to purchase or subscribe to or to convert, nor the issuance of the securities under the exercise of such right is an offer or sale." Rather, the grant of an option includes an offer or sale of the issuer's security "only at the time of the

offer or sale of the warrant or right or convertible security." CAL. CORP. CODE § 25017(e); see also MARIA A. AUDERO & BRENT A. OLSON, CAL. BUS. LAW DESKBOOK § 41:3 (2019 – 2020 ed. 2019). "The exercise of the option is not an offer or sale within the coverage of the Corporate Securities Law." CAL. CORP. CODE § 25017(e). Specifically, Section 25017(e) provides:

Every sale or offer of a warrant or *right to purchase* or subscribe to another security of the same or another issuer, as well as every sale or offer of a security which gives the holder a present or future right or privilege to convert the security into another security of the same or another issuer, includes an offer and sale of the other security only at the time of the offer and sale of the warrant or right or convertible security and <u>neither the exercise of the right to purchase</u> or subscribe or to convert <u>nor the issuance of securities pursuant thereto is an offer or sale</u>.

# *Id.* (emphasis added).

Thus, under the specific statutory language of the Act, shares issuable by exercise of stock options or warrants or conversion rights in other securities, are deemed "offered" or "sold" when the options, warrants or convertible securities are offered or sale ... rather than later when they are later exercised. *Id.*; see also C. Hugh Friedman et al., Cal. Practice. Guide Corps. Ch. 5-C (James F. Fotenos et al. eds., 2020) (citing Cal. Corp. Code § 25017(e)).

Consequently, under Section 25017(e), Wolfus' California Securities Act claim fails as a matter of law because he did not "purchase or sell a security" in 2014 when he exercised his stock options purportedly in reliance on the 2013 and 2014

Undisclosed Facts. Rather, because Wolfus acquired his stock options in 2009 when he was on the Board of Directors of Midway (AA316 ¶ 29, AA329 – AA330 ¶ 66, AA331 ¶ 69, AA335 – AA336 ¶ 87; AA557; AA559<sup>22</sup>), and there are no allegations of any misrepresentations made by Respondents in 2009 "in connection with the purchase or sale" of the options, the SAC cannot state a claim for violating the Act upon which relief can be granted.

# 2. Section 25017(e) Applies to Wolfus' Exercise of His Employee Stock Options.

On appeal, Wolfus argues for the first time that the District Court failed to properly interpret and apply Section 25017 "based upon an apparent misunderstanding of Qualified Employee Incentive Stock Options, warrants and convertible securities" and further argues that Section 25017(e) "does not deal with qualified employee incentive stock options grants." *See* OB 2, 23, 36-44. This is a non-existent distinction based solely upon the unsupported arguments of counsel, and it should be rejected.

a) Wolfus Failed to Raise His Argument in the Opening Brief Before the District Court and Should Be Precluded from Raising the Issue for the First Time on Appeal.

Wolfus' argument on appeal regarding the District Court's purported "misunderstanding of Qualified Employee Incentive Stock Options, warrants and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> See supra n.6.

convertible securities" (OB 2) should not be entertained by this Court because it was never raised before the District Court. This Court has long held that arguments raised for the first time on appeal will not be considered. See, e.g., Pope v. Motel 6, 121 Nev. 307, 114 P.3d 277, 285 (2005); Singer v. Chase Manhattan Bank, 111 Nev. 289, 292, 890 P.2d 1305, 1307 (1995) ("Because this argument was not raised before the district court, we decline to consider it.") (citing Gibbons v. Martin, 91 Nev. 269, 534 P.2d 915 (1975)); Hewitt v. State, 113 Nev. 387, 392, 936 P.2d 330, 333 (1997) ("several of [appellant's] arguments have been raised for the first time on appeal. We conclude that appellant's failure to raise these issues below precludes appellate review.") (citation omitted) (emphasis added); Diamond Enters., Inc. v. Lau, 113 Nev. 1376, 1378, 951 P.2d 73, 74 (1997) ("It is well established that arguments raised for the first time on appeal need not be considered by this court."); State of Washington v. Bagley, 114 Nev. 788, 792, 963 P.2d 498, 501 (1998) (holding that parties cannot raise issues for the first time on appeal). Because Wolfus failed to raise the non-existent distinction that Qualified Employee Incentive Stock Options are not contemplated by Section 25017(e) and not purchased or sold and gratuitously granted without consideration before the District Court, this Court should not consider these arguments for the first time on appeal.

b) Wolfus' Employee Stock Options are "Rights to Purchase" Under Section 25017(e).

In this newly devised argument, Wolfus argues that Section 25017(e) applies only to warrants and convertible securities, but not to Wolfus' qualified employee stock options. OB 39. As stated above, this argument should not be considered on appeal. However, should the Court determine to entertain this new argument raised on appeal, it must be rejected.

First, rules of statutory construction require that the Court consider the plain meaning of the statutory language. Under California law, courts analyzing statutory language should "start by considering the ordinary meaning of the statutory language, the language of related provisions, and the structure of the statutory scheme." Gund v. Cty. of Trinity, 10 Cal. 5th 503, 511, 472 P.3d 435, 440 (2020) (citing Weatherford v. City of San Rafael, 2 Cal. 5th 1241, 1246, 395 P.3d 274, 277 (2017)); National Lawyers Guild v. City of Hayward, 9 Cal. 5th 488, 498, 464 P.3d 594, 601 (2020) ("[W]e begin by looking to the statutory language. If the language is clear in context, our work is at an end."); In re A.N., 9 Cal. 5th 343, 351, 462 P.3d 974, 977 (2020) ("We start with the statute's words, which are the most reliable indicator of legislative intent. We interpret relevant terms in light of their ordinary meaning, while also taking account of any related provisions and the overall structure of the statutory scheme . . . . ").

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